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E M P L O Y M E N T L A W

Marc E. Bernstein is a partner in Paul Hastings’ employment law department, based in

the firm’s New York office. In a late October interview, he discussed the use of waiver and

release agreements to limit employment discrimination and other claims by former employ-

ees, as well as ratification issues and the ‘‘tender back’’ rule, which may arise in the enforce-

ment of these contractual provisions.
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BNA: How important was the ruling in Nicomedez?
Bernstein: The Nicomedez decision was important for

several reasons. First, companies use release agree-
ments all the time to mitigate risk of employee suits,
and this decision finds that employee claims of mental
instability, economic duress, fraud, and the like will not
withstand summary judgment if the employee holds on
to the severance payment.

Second, the court found that the employee’s release
was valid, as a matter of law, without requiring that the
parties go through any discovery on the employee’s
claims of mental instability, duress, fraud, etc. As you
know, the discovery process can be extremely time-
consuming and expensive. Here, the court granted sum-
mary judgment based on the pleadings and the parties
submissions, and granted summary judgment before
discovery.

Third, even though it was very early in the case, the
court exercised its supplemental jurisdiction to dismiss
the employee’s state law discrimination claims. Other
courts sometimes will decline to do that, which then re-
quires the employer to make the same motion all over
again in state court.

Finally, the U.S. Supreme Court has not yet ad-
dressed the question of whether ‘‘tender back’’ and rati-
fication apply to Title VII [of the 1964 Civil Rights Act]
and [Americans with Disabilities Act] cases (it has
ruled, in Oubre v. Entergy Operations Inc., 522 U.S.
422, 75 FEP Cases 1255 (1998), that the doctrines do not
apply in age discrimination cases) and different courts
have come to contrary conclusions on that issue. The
Nicomedez ruling squarely finds that, despite the Su-
preme Court’s decision in Oubre, the tender back and
ratification defenses do apply in the non-age claim con-
text.

BNA: Was the ‘‘tender back’’ rule already well-settled
in the district and circuit?

Bernstein: There really are two separate doctrines
that were at play in Nicomedez relating to the employ-
ee’s retention of the severance benefits. These are the
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doctrines of ‘‘tender back’’ and ‘‘ratification.’’ Some
courts confuse these two doctrines. They are related,
but they really are two different doctrines.

The ‘‘tender back’’ doctrine is essentially a proce-
dural rule derived from the common law requiring, as a
condition precedent to suit, that a plaintiff return the
consideration received in exchange for a release. The
doctrine of ‘‘ratification’’—which also is derived from
the common law—provides that a voidable contract
(i.e., a contract that, when entered into, was unenforce-
able because of duress, fraud, etc.) can become an en-
forceable contract if the party retains the benefits of the
contract after the events that gave rise to the voidable
nature of the contract cease (i.e., after the duress is re-
moved, the fraud is learned, etc.).

The applicability of both of these doctrines in dis-
crimination cases was cast into doubt after the Supreme
Court’s decision in Oubre. There, the Supreme Court
held that, when an employee contests the validity of a
waiver of age discrimination claims, he need not tender
back the consideration before challenging the release.
Courts have come to divergent conclusions as to
whether Oubre also applies to Title VII and ADA claims
(though the courts within the [U.S. Court of Appeals for
the] Second Circuit have ruled that it does not apply to
such claims).

I actually argued this very issue in the Second Cir-
cuit’s first post-Oubre decision addressing whether an
employee’s retention of severance constitutes ‘‘ratifica-
tion’’ of a release that allegedly was signed under eco-
nomic duress. In Landau v. American International
Group Inc., 164 F.3d 618 (2d Cir. 1998), the Second Cir-
cuit found that an employee’s failure to return consid-
eration constituted ratification of the release, despite
the employee’s claim of economic duress. The Nicome-
dez decision follows that same reasoning.

BNA: Do you expect an appeal?
Bernstein: There really is no way to tell, but we be-

lieve Judge [Katherine B.] Forrest’s well-reasoned deci-
sion correctly analyzed the law and an appeal would be
meritless.

BNA: Where do other courts stand on the ‘‘tender
back’’ rule?

Bernstein: There is no question that the tender back
and ratification doctrines do not apply to [Age Discrimi-
nation in Employment Act] (age claim) releases, under
the Supreme Court’s Oubre decision. However, the Su-
preme Court has not yet addressed whether those doc-
trines can apply in Title VII or ADA cases. At some
point, I expect this issue to bubble up to the Supreme
Court.

In addition, even if the doctrines do apply, it is an
open question as to how long an employee needs to re-
tain the severance in order for ‘‘ratification’’ to occur. In
Nicomedez, the court ruled that seven months of reten-
tion constituted ratification. But, what if it were only
three months? Or three weeks? These issues will need
to be addressed in future decisions.

Finally, some states have abolished the ‘‘tender back’’
rule. For example, New York abolished it in 1946 in the
Civil Practice Act. That is one reason why it is impor-
tant to keep ‘‘tender back’’ arguments separate from
‘‘ratification’’ arguments. Indeed, in Nicomedez, the
court recognized that the tender back rule was abol-
ished in New York, but it still dismissed the New York
state claims under the ratification doctrine.

BNA: Do you have a sense of how many circuits actu-
ally require an employee to return severance pay in or-
der to repudiate a release agreement?

Bernstein: I have not done a circuit-by-circuit survey,
but I do know of decisions outside of the Second Circuit
that, contrary to Nicomedez, have declined to apply the
tender back and/or ratification doctrines to employee
releases. For example, in Cole v. Gaming Entertain-
ment LLC, 199 F. Supp. 2d 208, 88 FEP Cases 1504 (D.
Del. 2002), a district court within the Third Circuit held
that an employee was not required to tender back the
consideration before filing a Title VII suit. Similarly, in
Rangel v. El Paso Natural Co., 996 F. Supp. 1093, 76
FEP Cases 445 (D.N.M. 1998)—which the Nicomedez
decision took note of—a district court within the Tenth
Circuit ruled that the tender back rule does not apply to
Title VII suits.

BNA: You said earlier that you think this is an issue
that could eventually be decided by the Supreme Court.

Bernstein: Yes, I do think that the issue of the en-
forceability of releases is an important one and is an is-
sue that the Supreme Court will eventually have to ad-
dress.

In addition, besides ratification and tender back, an
equally important issue in these release cases is the
proper standard for a ‘‘knowing and voluntary’’ release
of non-age claims. The Supreme Court has yet to ad-
dress these issues since Oubre. Meanwhile, employers
around the country are relying on releases to limit their
litigation risks.

BNA: In its ruling, the court held that the plaintiff was
required to return her severance pay in order to repudi-
ate the release agreement. The court did not address
the continuing health, dental, and life insurance ben-
efits that the plaintiff also received in exchange for
signing the agreement. Would she have been required
to ‘‘return’’ this consideration as well in order to bring
suit?

Bernstein: You are right, the court did not address
those benefits because the employee’s failure to return
the severance was such a clear ratification of the re-
lease. However, theoretically, the value of those ben-
efits would need to be returned as well. That could raise
issues of valuation (e.g., is it the premium that needs to
be returned, or the actual benefits received under the
release that needs to be returned?). Here, the Court did
not have to become enmeshed in such issues because
the employee did not return anything (severance or
benefits).

BNA: Are there other forms of consideration that may
be used in place of severance pay?

Bernstein: Yes. For example: a reference letter; a re-
laxation or elimination of restrictive covenants; a vest-
ing or acceleration of the payment of certain benefits
(assuming there are no tax issues with doing so); an
agreed-upon public statement regarding the employee’s
departure; payment of a bonus that otherwise would
have been forfeited by the termination; or payment of
future medical benefits.

In short, it can be anything that the employer is not
already required to do under the company’s policies or
law.
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BNA: The court also ruled that filing a charge of dis-
crimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission is not a sufficient repudiation of a release.
Is this issue well-settled across the circuits?

Bernstein: I have not done a survey outside of the
Second Circuit. Within the Second Circuit, several dis-
trict courts have found that filing a charge with the
EEOC is not a sufficient repudiation where the em-
ployee does not also return the severance.

BNA: How else might an individual repudiate a
waiver or release?

Bernstein: Under the analysis in Nicomedez, I really
don’t think a repudiation can occur if the employee re-
tains the severance.

BNA: In Nicomedez, the plaintiff also alleged that the
release should not be enforced because she signed un-
der economic duress. Why was that argument
unsuccessful?

Bernstein: For several reasons. First, ‘‘economic du-
ress’’ is very hard to establish. The party has a very
heavy burden and essentially needs to show that she
was robbed of her free will, i.e., as a result of an illegal
threat made by the employer she had no other alterna-
tive besides signing the release.

Second, Nicomedez’s claim of economic duress was
primarily based on the allegation that the company
would not return her personal belongings (a jacket,
shoes, and an umbrella) or pay her two hours of over-
time and her accrued vacation pay. Not only were those
allegations completely untrue, but even if they had been
true, they don’t amount to completely depriving some-
one of free will.

Third, the court did not even have to address duress
because Nicomedez’s retention of the severance for
seven months constituted ratification of the release.

BNA: How can a plaintiff in a similar case prove eco-
nomic or other duress?

Bernstein: There really needs to be an illegal threat
made by the employer, and the threat must be of such
magnitude that it reasonably can be said to deprive the
employee of free will and be such that the employee
could not protect herself by declining the release and
suing. It frankly is hard to imagine a threat that could
meet this high standard. Perhaps an illegal threat of
foreclosing on the employee’s house (assuming the em-
ployer had that power).

BNA: What are other common arguments against en-
forcement of a release?

Bernstein: The main argument is that the employee
did not sign the release in a ‘‘knowing and voluntary’’
manner. The following factors are considered in deter-
mining whether the execution was knowing and volun-
tary: (1) the employee’s education and business experi-
ence; (2) the amount of time the employee was given to
review the agreement and decide whether to sign; (3)
the employee’s role, if any, in deciding the terms of the
agreement (e.g., whether the terms were negotiated);
(4) the clarity of the agreement (e.g., whether it was
plainly worded or whether it was confusing); (5)
whether the employee consulted with an attorney; and
(6) whether the consideration exceeds what the em-
ployee already was entitled to by law.

In many situations, especially in large-scale layoffs,
factors three and five (employee negotiation and in-
volvement of an attorney) are not present.

I always counsel employers to provide employees suf-
ficient time to decide whether to sign the release—I
think that is the most important factor (assuming the
agreement, itself, is clear)—and try not to do or say any-
thing that can be considered pressuring the employee to
quickly sign the release.

BNA: What are some things that practitioners should
consider in drafting and enforcing release agreements?

Bernstein: First, the release should be clear and easy
to understand, especially if the employee likely will not
have counsel. For example, it should say that the em-
ployee is ‘‘giving up’’ any rights that he has, including
any rights to sue his employer regarding any matters
that occurred during employment or regarding the ter-
mination. It should also list any rights that the employee
is not giving up (e.g., pension or other vested benefits,
unused accrued vacation pay).

Second, the employee should be given sufficient time
to review the release. When the employee is less than
40 years old (and, thus the release does not need to con-
tain special age-claim language), I ordinarily recom-
mend providing the employee at least 14 days.

Finally, if the employee is 40 years or older, the com-
pany needs to consider whether to include language
mandated by the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act
that must be present to effectively release age discrimi-
nation claims (e.g., providing the employee seven days
to revoke the agreement after signing).
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